IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 21-0756

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellant,

vs.

GOWUN PARK,
Defendant-Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR DALLAS COUNTY
THE HONORABLE BRAD MCCALL, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

LOUIS S. SLOVEN
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov

CHUCK SINNARD
Dallas County Attorney

JEANNINE R. RITCHIE
Assistant Dallas County Attorney

SCOTT D. BROWN
Assistant Attorney General

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

FINAL

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. **Did the district court err in determining that Park was in custody when officers arrived at her apartment, in response to her 911 call, and asked what happened?**

Authorities

Berkemer v. McCarty, 468 U.S. 420 (1984)
Centanni v. Eight Unknown Officers, 15 F.3d 587
(6th Cir. 1994)
Maryland v. Shatzer, 559 U.S. 98 (2010)
Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966)
United States v. Czichray, 378 F.3d 822 (8th Cir. 2004)
United States v. Oates, 560 F.2d 45 (2d Cir. 1977)
United States v. Panak, 552 F.3d 462 (6th Cir. 2009)
United States v. Parker, 993 F.3d 595 (8th Cir. 2021)
United States v. Valle Cruz, 452 F.3d 698 (8th Cir. 2006)
In re E.G., 194 A.3d 57 (N.H. 2018)
Lamasters v. State, 821 N.W.2d 856 (Iowa 2012)
State v. Bogan, 774 N.W.2d 676 (Iowa 2006)
State v. Bradford, 620 N.W.2d 503 (Iowa 2000)
State v. Brown, 176 N.W.2d 180 (Iowa 1970)
State v. Countryman, 572 N.W.2d 553 (Iowa 1997)
State v. Davis, No. 08–1942, 2009 WL 4116322
(Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 25, 2009)
State v. Decanini–Hernandez, 19–2120, 2021 WL 610103
(Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 17, 2021)
State v. Evans, 495 N.W.2d 760 (Iowa 1993)
State v. Miranda, 672 N.W.2d 753 (Iowa 2003)
State v. Osborn, No. 16–1066, 2018 WL 4922938
(Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 10, 2018)
State v. Page, No. 16–1404, 2017 WL 4049495
(Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 13, 2017)
State v. Palmer, 791 N.W.2d 840 (Iowa 2010)
State v. Plager, No. 03–0619, 200
State v. Ryan, No. 17–2031, 2019 WL 2524119
(Iowa Ct. App. June 19, 2019)
State v. Schlitter, 881 N.W.2d 380 (Iowa 2016)
State v. Scott, 518 N.W.2d 347 (Iowa 1994)

State v. Smith, 546 N.W.2d 916 (Iowa 1996)
State v. Tyler, 867 N.W.2d 136 (Iowa 2015)
State v. Underwood, No. 12–2319, 2014 WL 467576
(Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 5, 2014)
State v. White, 887 N.W.2d 172 (Iowa 2016)
Van Hoff v. State, 447 N.W.2d 665 (Iowa Ct. App. 1983)

II. Did the district court err in determining that Park did not understand her *Miranda* rights and did not knowingly waive them at the beginning of her first interview with detectives, when she subsequently invoked her *Miranda* rights to end the interview?

Authorities

North Carolina v. Butler, 441 U.S. 369 (1979)
Lamasters v. State, 821 N.W.2d 856 (Iowa 2012)
Park v. Commonwealth, No. 2006–SC–0050–MR,
2006 WL 2987031 (Ky. Oct. 19, 2006)
State v. Hajtic, 724 N.W.2d 449 (Iowa 2006)
State v. King, 492 N.W.2d 211 (Iowa Ct. App. 1992)
State v. Mann, 512 N.W.2d 528 (Iowa 1994)
State v. Palmer, 791 N.W.2d 840 (Iowa 2010)
State v. Powell, No. 13–1147, 2014 WL 4930480
(Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 1, 2014)

III. Did the district court err in determining that the detectives made impermissible promises of leniency, when they did not imply any *quid pro quo* benefit from confessing or any penalty for not confessing?

Authorities

- Lamasters v. State*, 821 N.W.2d 856 (Iowa 2012)
Mablin v. State, No. 18–1612, 2019 WL 4297860
(Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 11, 2019)
State v. Buenaventura, 660 N.W.2d 38 (Iowa 2003)
State v. Bunker, No. 13–0600, 2014 WL 957432
(Iowa Ct. App. Mar. 12, 2014)
State v. Cooper, 217 N.W.2d 589 (Iowa 1974)
State v. Crowley, 309 N.W.2d 523 (Iowa Ct. App. 1981)
State v. Foy, No. 10–1549, 2011 WL 2695308
(Iowa Ct. App. July 13, 2011)
State v. Gibbs, 941 N.W.2d 888 (Iowa 2020)
State v. Hall, 297 N.W.2d 80 (Iowa 1980)
State v. Hodges, 326 N.W.2d 345 (Iowa 1982)
State v. Howard, 825 N.W.2d 32 (Iowa 2012)
State v. Jacoby, 260 N.W.2d 828 (Iowa 1977)
State v. Jennett, 574 N.W.2d 361 (Iowa Ct. App. 1997)
State v. Kase, 344 N.W.2d 223 (Iowa 1984)
State v. Leutfaimany, 585 N.W.2d 200 (Iowa 1998)
State v. Madsen, 813 N.W.2d 714 (Iowa 2012)
State v. McCoy, 692 N.W.2d 6 (Iowa 2005)
State v. McGuire, 572 N.W.2d 545 (Iowa 1997)
State v. Mullin, 85 N.W.2d 598 (Iowa 1957)
State v. Odem, 322 N.W.2d 43 (Iowa 1982)
State v. Polk, 812 N.W.2d 670 (Iowa 2012)
State v. Quintero, 480 N.W.2d 50 (Iowa 1992)
State v. Wilson, No. 16–0555, 2017 WL 936125
(Iowa Ct. App. Mar. 8, 2017)
Kuk Cho, *The Unfinished ‘Criminal Procedure’ Revolution of Post-Democratization South Korea*, 30 Denv. J. Int’l L. & Pol’y 377 (2002)
Jieun Choi, *Stop Attributing Everything to Confucianism*,

Korea Exposé (Jan. 24, 2018),
<https://koreaexpose.com/stop-attributing-everything-in-east-asia-to-confucianism/>

IV. Did the district court err in determining that Park's statements during her subsequent interviews were inadmissible, when Park re-initiated contact on her own initiative, and when Park's statements indicated that she was not under the misconception that she was somehow immune from arrest or prosecution?

Authorities

Bobby v. Dixon, 565 U.S. 23 (2011)
Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477 (1981)
Irving v. State, 533 N.W.2d 538 (Iowa 1995)
Lamasters v. State, 821 N.W.2d 856 (Iowa 2012)
Oregon v. Bradshaw, 462 U.S. 1039 (1983)
Oregon v. Elstad, 470 U.S. 298 (1985)
United States v. Bayer, 331 U.S. 532 (1947)
State v. Buenaventura, 660 N.W.2d 38 (Iowa 2003)
State v. Chamberlain, 297 S.E.2d 540 (N.C. 1982)
State v. Kase, 344 N.W.2d 223 (Iowa 1984)
State v. Newsom, 414 N.W.2d 354 (Iowa 1987)
State v. Palmer, 791 N.W.2d 840 (Iowa 2010)
State v. Powell, No. 13–1147, 2014 WL 4930480
(Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 1, 2014)
State v. Zarate, No. 11–0530, 2012 WL 652449
(Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 29, 2012)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal can be resolved through the application of settled legal principles. Transfer to the Iowa Court of Appeals is appropriate. *See Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3)(a).*

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case & Course of Proceedings

This is the State's interlocutory appeal from a ruling that granted a motion to suppress evidence of all statements made by Gowun Park, the defendant. Park is charged with first-degree murder for killing her husband, Sung Nam. The State is challenging all four components of the ruling that granted Park's motion to suppress all of her statements.

(I) Park had called 911 from her apartment to report that Nam was not breathing. Paramedics arrived first; police arrived soon after. Nam was unconscious. Park was having a loud emotional breakdown as paramedics attempted to treat Nam. Two officers engaged Park—they tried to comfort her, steered her away from the room where the paramedics were working, and asked her what had happened. Park told them that she woke up from a nap and found Nam tied up and unresponsive, so she had cut him loose and called 911. She also said that he had tied himself up, and that he had previously been suicidal.

At some point, police began to suspect that Park was not telling the truth about what happened. A detective came to Park's apartment to ask Park some additional questions. Officers also took pictures and began drafting an application for a search warrant for the apartment.

(II) The detectives asked Park to come to the police station for an interview. They read a *Miranda* advisory out loud, provided Park with a written *Miranda* waiver form, and asked if Park understood those rights. Park did not sign the advisory, but she indicated that she understood and acted as if she understood. Park made reference to her *Miranda* rights at multiple points during that interview, and she ultimately ended the interview by invoking her right to counsel.

(III) During that interview, Park gave additional background: she stated that Nam had been physically abusive on prior occasions, and that he would ask her to tie him to a chair when he was mad (so that he would be unable to hurt her). But she stuck to the same story on this particular incident: Nam had tied himself up, and she woke up from a nap to find Nam bound and unresponsive. The detectives told Park that her story did not align with the physical evidence, and that people would understand if there was more to the story. Park did not budge. At the end, detectives told Park that they knew she was lying.

(IV) After the search of Park’s apartment was complete, an officer drove Park home. The next morning, Park drove herself back to the police station and asked to speak to the detectives. Nobody had summoned her, and the detectives did not expect her. Park signed a *Miranda* waiver at the beginning of the interview, without hesitation and without asking for any explanation or clarification. Then, she told a different story: she said that she *did* tie Nam to a chair. She said it was at his request, because he was angry and could not control himself. Still, Park maintained that Nam was fine when she fell asleep, and that he was unresponsive when she awoke from her nap. Park stuck to that story during two subsequent interviews, over the next three days. The last of those interviews ended with her arrest for first-degree murder.

Park moved to suppress all evidence of her statements. *See* MTS (10/22/20); App. 4; MTS Brief (10/22/20); App. 6. The State resisted. *See* Resistance (1/29/21); App. 40. After a hearing, the district court granted Park’s motion to suppress on four grounds:

- I. The district court found that Park was effectively in custody for *Miranda* purposes “during the entire time officers were present” and starting “[i]mmediately upon their arrival.” Based on that, it granted the motion to suppress all evidence of her statements to police “[b]ecause she was not read her *Miranda* rights before questioning began.” *See* Ruling (3/11/21) at 9–11; App. 170–72.

- II. The district court also found that Park did not understand her *Miranda* rights when detectives read her the advisory at the police station—and because she did not knowingly waive those rights, her statements during that interview were inadmissible. *See* Ruling (3/11/21) at 11–13; App. 172–74.
- III. It also found that the detectives made impermissible promises of leniency in that interview, by making non-specific statements that they wanted to “help” Park and urging her to tell the truth about whether she hurt Nam in self-defense or as a reaction to physical abuse. The court determined that there were no actual promises of leniency—but it still found that those statements required it to suppress all evidence of what Park said during that interview, because they “gave Park false hope that if she simply reacted to an abusive situation, she would not be in trouble.” *See* Ruling (3/11/21) at 13–17; App. 174–78.
- IV. Finally, the court held that “the taint from the initial interview clearly carried over to all subsequent interviews conducted by the police officers,” so all of Park’s subsequent statements were also inadmissible—even after Park initiated another interview, expressly waived her *Miranda* rights, and changed her story. *See* Ruling (3/11/21) at 17–18; App. 178–79.

The State appeals, because all four of those findings are incorrect.

Statement of Facts

Around 6:20 p.m. on February 15, 2020, Park called 911 and reported that Nam was not breathing. She gave her address—it was an apartment in West Des Moines, where she and Nam lived together. Paramedics and police hurried to the scene. *See* MTS-Tr. 13:5–15:19.

Exhibit 5 includes video from Officer Molly Sweeden’s bodycam. When officers arrived, Nam was unconscious on the floor of a small office room; a team of paramedics was already trying to treat him.

Park was sobbing loudly, while trying to see inside that small room. Officer McCarty guided Park to Officer Sweeden, and he said: “this is Officer Molly, she’s going to get some information from you.” Then, he started preparing a stretcher for Nam. Officer Sweeden said, “Hi, can I get your name?” Park understood the question and started to respond, then interrupted herself with loud wailing and moved towards the room where Nam was being treated. *See State’s Ex. 5, at 6:52:41–6:53:05.*

Officer Sweeden and Officer Hinrichsen put their hands on Park’s arms and guided Park away, to let the paramedics work. They walked her to a chair in the apartment’s main room (a combination living room and kitchen). Park sat for a moment. Then, she stood up and walked closer to the office. Park was alternating between heavy breathing and loud crying. The officers tried to get Park to calm down. They said that the medics were already doing their best to help Nam, and she could help by telling them what happened. *See State’s Ex. 5, at 6:53:05–6:55:35; MTS-Tr. 16:4–18:17; MTS-Tr. 41:11–45:17.*

In response to their first question about what happened, Park said that she had been asleep in the living room, after watching TV. Park said that she woke up, went to the kitchen, and looked into the office to ask Nam if he wanted anything to eat. She said that she saw

Nam on the floor, face-down. She said that she went to look closer and noticed that Nam was not breathing. She said that Nam appeared to have tied himself to a chair, and there was a line around his neck. She said she cut the line with scissors and pressed on Nam's chest, but he was not breathing and would not wake up. Then, she called 911. *See State's Ex. 5, at 6:54:35–6:55:35.*

Park finished giving that initial summary at about 6:55:35. Then, Park looked over towards the office again, and she broke down. She began wailing, squatted down on the floor, and started hitting her own head with open hands. Whenever Park looked towards the office where medics were treating Nam, she wailed again. Officer Sweeden crouched down on the floor next to Park, took hold of Park's hand to stop her from hitting herself, and tried to calm Park down. *See State's Ex. 5, at 6:55:30–6:56:00.* Officer Sweeden tried to get Park to come and sit on a couch in a different part of the main room. Park got up for a moment, but then squatted down again in that same spot; she continued wailing and crying into her hands. Park continued to wail and did not move from that spot. Then, Officer Sweeden asked Park to match her breathing. That helped. *See State's Ex. 5, at 6:56:00–6:56:49.* Officer Hinrichsen asked Park if she had any ID. Park said

that she did. Both officers said, “can we go find it?” Officer Hinrichsen added on, “it’ll give you something to do,” and she remarked that they were not sure that they had the correct spelling of Park’s name. Park went to get her ID—she went into an adjoining bedroom, then into a walk-in closet. The officers followed Park into that bedroom.

Park gave her ID to Officer Hinrichsen. Officer Sweeden stood in the doorway and intercepted Park as she tried to walk out into the main room of the apartment—she said “Can we sit right here? I need to get some more information from you, okay?” As Officer Sweeden said that, she gestured towards the bed. Park did not sit down, but she stood relatively still. She answered some questions about Nam’s recent activity, medical history, and mental health history (including a prior suicide attempt). *See State’s Ex. 5, at 6:56:49–7:02:45.*

Officer Hinrichsen said that attempting to gather information from other people at the scene was their typical role in most calls for medical emergencies, after paramedics arrived—“just to get the basic information of why this person was unconscious, what happened.” *See MTS-Tr. 42:16–43:3.* She also agreed that they typically “help make sure that it’s not chaotic” in situations that involve bystanders with heightened or unstable emotions. *See MTS-Tr. 43:13–45:17.*

Officer Sweeden said that she was not personally suspicious of Park until later on, when she heard about “ligature marks on [Nam’s] hands and feet.” *See* MTS-Tr. 28:25–29:16. She said that Park did not have difficulty comprehending or answering questions in English, apart from her intermittent crying. *See* MTS-Tr. 34:23–35:11. They did not let Park use her iPhone, because it was in the room with Nam and it seemed to have evidentiary value—but they tried to help Park contact someone through other means (including offering to let her use Facebook, or use their phones to call contacts from her iWatch or from her computer). *See* MTS-Tr. 35:18–36:20; MTS-Tr. 50:21–51:12.

Only Officer Sweeden’s body-cam footage was admitted at the hearing on the motion to suppress. That meant there was a gap in the footage when Officer Sweeden left to get a digital camera from their patrol vehicle. During that time, paramedics loaded Nam onto the stretcher and wheeled him out of the apartment. Officer Hinrichsen said that Park “was allowed to see him when he was on his way out of the apartment,” which explains why Park was in the main room of the apartment when Officer Sweeden returned. *See* MTS-Tr. 48:14–21; *cf.* Ruling (3/11/21) at 10 & n.49; App. 171. The officers did not let Park drive herself to the hospital, because “[s]he was just so emotional that

we didn't want to risk her getting into a car accident on the way." *See* MTS-Tr. 51:13–52:1. They also "still didn't have enough information of what happened to [Nam] to really let [Park] leave without getting more information." *See* MTS-Tr. 52:2–6; *accord* MTS-Tr. 58:16–59:11. Officer Hinrichsen "thought it was a suicide at the time," but she also recognized that she "did not know what happened"—which was why they needed to investigate. *See* MTS-Tr. 53:14–55:13. She explained:

Well, we had no idea what happened. We didn't know if this was . . . an allergic reaction or if he had some sort of condition that had led to him being unresponsive. We had no idea if, you know, if it was a suicide or a crime or — we had no idea. She was the only one present there at the scene, so she was the only one that was able to give us any information as to what happened.

And obviously initially when the medics are trying to treat him and save his life, you know, the more information they have, the better they can come up with a treatment plan. So we were trying to gather that information the best we can.

MTS-Tr. 80:2–17. After paramedics took Nam to the hospital, Park was relatively free to move about the apartment, except for the room where Nam had been found. *See* MTS-Tr. 60:5–10. There was a laptop in the living room; Park could use it, but she chose not to. *See* MTS-Tr. 81:3–9; State's Ex. 5, 7:20:00–7:21:50. Later, detectives arrived to ask Park additional questions, and they eventually transported Park to the West Des Moines police station for an interview.

In its ruling on Park’s motion to suppress, the district court found that Park was in custody, from the moment that officers arrived in response to Park’s 911 call and asked Park what had happened.

Based on the nature of the questioning of Park, the officers’ refusal to allow her to move about within the interior of the condo, the repeated denial of her requests to go to the hospital or place calls on her phone to arrange a ride to the hospital and the implication something “weird” was going on, the Court concludes Park was “in custody” despite the fact she remained in her own condo. While she was certainly not under arrest, there was significant restraint on her freedom of movement. Because she was not read her *Miranda* rights before questioning began, statements made by Park, whether inculpatory or exculpatory, must be suppressed.

See Ruling (3/11/21) at 9–11; App. 170–72.

Additional facts will be discussed when relevant.

ARGUMENT

I. **The district court erred in suppressing evidence of statements Park made while she was in her apartment.**

Preservation of Error

Error was fully preserved when the district court granted the motion to suppress and found that Park was in custody, for purposes of *Miranda*, from the moment that officers followed paramedics into her apartment and asked her what happened to Nam. *See* Ruling (3/11/21) at 9–11; App. 170–72; Resistance (1/29/21) at 7–9; App. 46–48; *Lamasters v. State*, 821 N.W.2d 856, 864 (Iowa 2012).

Standard of Review

Review of the district court’s ruling on claim alleging violation of constitutional rights is de novo. *See, e.g., State v. Palmer*, 791 N.W.2d 840, 844 (Iowa 2010).

Merits

“*Miranda* warnings are not required unless there is both custody and interrogation.” *See State v. Miranda*, 672 N.W.2d 753, 759 (Iowa 2003) (quoting *State v. Countryman*, 572 N.W.2d 553, 557 (Iowa 1997)). In this context, custody means that “a suspect’s freedom of action is curtailed to a degree associated with formal arrest.” *See id.* (quoting *Berkemer v. McCarty*, 468 U.S. 420, 440 (1984)).

Iowa courts apply an objective test: a person is in custody, for *Miranda* purposes, when “a reasonable person in [his] position would understand himself to be in custody.” *See id.* (quoting *Countryman*, 572 N.W.2d at 558); *State v. Bogan*, 774 N.W.2d 676, 680 (Iowa 2006) (“A custody determination depends on objective circumstances, not the subjective belief of the officers or the defendant.”). Iowa precedent on custody for purposes of *Miranda* identifies four factors to consider:

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