IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF IOWA NO. 21-0756

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellant,

VS.

GOWUN PARK, Defendant-Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR DALLAS COUNTY, HONORABLE BRAD MCCALL

DEFENDANT/APPELLEE'S FINAL BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Tammy Gentry Gina Messamer PARRISH KRUIDENIER DUNN GENTRY BROWN BERGMANN & MESSAMER, L.L.P. 2910 Grand Avenue

Des Moines, Iowa 50312 Telephone: (515) 284-5737 Facsimile: (515) 284-1704

Email: <u>tgentry@parrishlaw.com</u>

gmessamer@parrishlaw.com

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT/APPELLEE

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

C. The extent to which the defendant is confronted with evidence of guilt.

Later in the encounter, Det. Morgan told Ms. Park very directly that she could not have her phone so she could go to the hospital, saying "this is very weird." (Sweeden 1 at 44:40; see also Sweeden 2 at 1:25 (again stating something weird has happened)). This factor is neutral.

D. Whether the defendant is free to leave the place of questioning.

In evaluating whether an individual's freedom of action is restricted in any significant way, the most relevant factor is whether officers prevented the individual from leaving. Beginning at minute 25:20, officers refused to let Ms. Park leave her apartment. By this time, officers had directed Ms. Park into her bedroom and shut the door. (Sweeden 1 at 19:16). Ms. Park moved to the door and Officer Sweeden told her that she would be able to go to the hospital, but they needed to ask her additional questions. (Sweeden 1 at 19:25). After the questions, *then* Ms. Park could find a ride to the hospital. *Id.* Over and over again, Ms. Park asked to leave and was told no. Ms. Park proceeded to ask to leave her apartment no less than eight times.

From the time officers first refused Ms. Park's request to go to the hospital at 25:20, she was not free to leave. Ms. Park was not in control of her location. She was repeatedly denied permission to leave. This factor heavily favors a finding that Ms. Park was deprived of her freedom in a significant way, such that a reasonable person would believe herself to be in custody.

Especially in light of Ms. Park's extremely heightened emotions, this was a highly coercive atmosphere. *Schlitter*, 881 N.W.2d at 395. Viewing the circumstances as a whole, a reasonable person in Ms. Park's position would have felt she was in custody. The officers' failure to provide her with *Miranda* warnings thus requires

suppression of her statements beginning at 25:20. The District Court carefully considered each of the factors relating to custody and correctly concluded Ms. Park was "in custody" at the time she was questioned. This Court should affirm that ruling.

III. Ms. Park's statements at the station on February 15 must be suppressed.

The State does not dispute that Ms. Park was in custody when she was questioned at the police station on February 15 into the early morning of February 16. (App. 172; State Br. at 31). At the station, the detectives presented Ms. Park with her *Miranda* rights, but the State cannot prove she knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waive those rights. Nor could the presentation of her rights at the station overcome the taint of the unwarned questioning at her apartment. Ms. Park's statements at the station therefore also must be suppressed.

A. Ms. Park's statements were tainted by unwarned questioning at her apartment.

Ms. Park's statements after she was taken to the police station must be suppressed because they were tainted by the illegal questioning at her apartment. Where a suspect makes unwarned statements and then, in a subsequent interview with proper³ *Miranda* warnings, makes further voluntary statements, the later statements must also be suppressed. *Missouri v. Seibert*, 542 U.S. 600, 604 (2004). In *Seibert*, law enforcement questioned the defendant without *Miranda* warnings and obtained a confession from the defendant. *Id.* at 604–06. The officers then read the defendant *Miranda* warnings, obtained a waiver, and had the defendant repeat the inculpatory information. *Id.* The Court held this impermissibly undercut the defendant's constitutional rights.

The situation here is no different. Multiple officers questioned Ms. Park at her apartment to elicit incriminating information without the benefit of a *Miranda* warning. Det. Morgan was one of those officers, and he personally participated in the follow-up interview of Ms. Park at the police station. The detectives' *Miranda* warning at the station thus was ineffectual under *Seibert*.

B. Ms. Park's statements at the station must be suppressed because she did not validly waive her *Miranda* rights.

³ Ms. Park maintains that she did not validly waive her *Miranda* rights at the station in the interview that began on February 15th.

The Iowa Supreme Court has explained that, "[i]n order to execute a valid waiver of one's Miranda rights, the waiver must be made 'knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily." State v. Tyler, 867 N.W.2d 136, 174 (Iowa 2015). "[F]or a suspect to knowingly and intelligently waive his Miranda rights, the State must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the waiver was made with a full awareness of both the nature of the right being abandoned and the consequences of the decision to abandon it." State v. Palmer, 791 N.W.2d 840, 845 (Iowa 2010). "[F]or a waiver to be made voluntarily, the State must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the relinquishment of the right was the product of a free and deliberate choice rather than intimidation, coercion, or deception." Id. (cleaned up). Courts determine voluntariness under the totality of the circumstances, considering:

Defendant's age; whether defendant had prior experience in the criminal justice system; whether defendant was under the influence of drugs; whether defendant was mentally "subnormal"; whether deception was used; whether defendant showed an ability to understand the questions and respond; the length of time defendant was detained and interrogated; defendant's physical and emotional reaction to interrogation; whether physical punishment, including deprivation of food and sleep, was used.

Tyler, 867 N.W.2d at 175 (cleaned up).

The State cannot carry its burden to prove Ms. Park had "a full awareness" of her rights or the consequences of abandoning her right. Nor can the State prove that her waiver was a product of a free and deliberate choice, rather than coercion and deception.

To begin, Ms. Park speaks English as a second language; her comprehension of conversational English is limited. (Supp. Trans. 35:12-13, 43:7-44:1). She is an immigrant from South Korea. (Supp. Trans. 18:7). When Det. Morgan asked her if she felt she understood English enough to communicate in English, or if she would like a Korean translator, Ms. Park responded, "I'm not so sure my condition." (Hatcher Body Cam 4, App. 76 8:40–:50). The detectives ignored this and abandoned their offer to get her a Korean translator, instead proceeding to begin the interrogation.

The State emphasizes that Ms. Park taught Economics in English and lived in the United States for twenty years. As the District Court correctly found, "While she clearly understands most spoken English, her fluency is limited." (App. 173). A review of any of her interviews reveals that the State's claim that Ms. Park speaks "fluent English," (State Br. at 43), is grossly overstated. The video shows Ms.

Park was out of her element, incredibly distraught, dealing with the criminal justice system for the first time and a new set of vocabulary.

Notably, the detectives did not inform Ms. Park of her consular rights under the Vienna Convention. Article 36 of the treaty provides:

1. With a view to facilitating the exercise of consular functions relating to nationals of the sending State:

* * *

(b) if he so requests, the competent authorities of the receiving State shall, without delay, inform the consular post of the sending State if, within its consular district, a national of that State is arrested or committed to prison or custody pending trial or is detained in any other manner. Any communication addressed to the consular post by the person arrested, in prison, custody or detention shall also be forwarded by said authorities without delay. The said authorities shall inform the person concerned without delay of his rights under this sub-paragraph

. . . .

Vienna Convention on Consular Relations, April 24, 1963, art. 36, 21 U.S.T. 77, 100-01. While the exclusionary rule does not apply to a violation of the Vienna Convention, the lack of an advisal in this case is a factor to consider in determining whether Ms. Park's participation in this interview was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. See State v. Buenaventura, 660 N.W.2d 38, 45-48 (Iowa

2003) (considering whether violation of Vienna Convention rights impacted voluntariness of statement).

At the outset of the interview, Ms. Park repeatedly asked the detectives for information about her husband's condition and they repeatedly lied to her. She asked if Sung was okay and Det. Hatcher told her,

We're waiting to find out. There's an officer down there . . . in the emergency room waiting for the doctor to come out and tell us how he's doing and stuff like that. So we do not know how he is right now, but the moment I get a text message or call, I will tell you, okay?

(Hatcher Body Cam 4, App. 72 2:40-3:05).

When the detectives read her the *Miranda* warning, Ms. Park asked if they could talk after she found out about her husband. The detectives said no, "we need to be able to talk to you at the same time because maybe you know something that helps him." (Hatcher Body Cam 4, App. 74 5:11-5:14). Ms. Park further asked if she could talk to a doctor after she talked to the detectives and the detectives told her no because the doctors were helping her husband "right now." (App. 74 at 5:30–4:48). The detectives purposefully misled Ms. Park to believe that Sung was still alive and that the answers she provided might help save him. (App. 71 at 0:36, App. 72 3:20–3:40, App. 74

5:10–45). They knew that Sung had already been pronounced dead. (Supp. Trans. at 110:8–17). But the detectives questioned Ms. Park for an hour and a half before they revealed the truth. (*Id.* at 1:26:00).

"Deception of any nature by representatives of the state cannot be condoned." *State v. Cooper*, 217 N.W.2d 589, 597 (Iowa 1974). Ms. Park was desperate to know her husband was okay, and the detectives capitalized on this by telling her she needed to answer their questions in order to provide information to the doctors who were trying to help him. *Cf. State v. Jacoby*, 260 N.W.2d 828, 833 (Iowa 1977) (finding deception regarding death of suspect's husband did not render confession involuntary when suspect's "emotional distress [did not] appear to have been so great"). The deception—playing on Ms. Park's desire to help save her husband—rendered Ms. Park's subsequent statement involuntary.

When the detectives read Ms. Park her rights from a written form and asked her to sign the form, she did not sign the form and stated she was "not so sure" she understood her rights. The detectives did not ask her what she didn't understand, nor did they further explain her rights. Det. Morgan told her, "You can tell me you don't want to talk to me, but we're still going to stay here at the

station until we figure out what's going on, okay?" This indicated to Ms. Park that she did not have an option. The detectives told her she didn't have to sign the *Miranda* form, "but we would still like to talk to you . . . so I'll probably ask you to start." (*See, e.g.*, Hatcher Body Cam 4, 9:10-9:22). This indicated to her that the detectives could interview her regardless of whether she asserted her rights. After this, she began answering questions. Because the State cannot prove she understood that she could remain silent and that her words would be used against her, she did not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waive her *Miranda* rights.

The length of the detention and interrogation, and Ms. Park's emotional and physical reaction to it, also support a finding that her statements were not voluntary. Ms. Park was in an extremely heightened emotional state. She had found her husband unresponsive and was very concerned with his wellbeing. Ms. Park was detained in the same small room for all three-plus hours of the interrogation, as well as a lengthy break in the interrogation where detectives returned to her home. She was not allowed to leave, despite requests to go see her husband, to go to the hospital, and to go home. When she briefly left the interview room, she was accompanied by officers. Ms. Park was extremely emotional during the interview, particularly when she learned her husband was dead. She cried, screamed, wailed, and whimpered. (Hatcher Body Cam App. 109 1:26:00– to end). She became so upset that she could not support herself and fell to the floor. (App. 109 *Id.* at 1:26:10–20). She struggled to breath. It was after Ms. Park collapsed that the detectives doubled-down on the interrogation and began confronting her with evidence of her guilt.

The tactics used by the officers are reminiscent of those used in *State v. Itoh*, 784 N.W.2d 202, 2010 WL 1578527 (Iowa Ct. App. 2010). In that case, officers were questioning a Japanese doctor regarding an alleged sexual assault. The officers interviewed the doctor without a translator present. It was the first time the doctor had ever spoken to a police officer and he believed the interview was related to his employment. *Id.* Mid-way through the interview, the doctor said, "So probably I need some representative for me." The officers nevertheless continued with the interrogation.

The district court suppressed the doctor's statements after the doctor had asked for a representative and found that the doctor "statements were not the result of a knowing, voluntary, and

intelligent waiver of his Fifth and Sixth Amendment rights." *Id.* This was due to the tactics used by the officers in the interrogation:

His body language and gestures showed his reluctance to talk. His statements that he did not want to talk did not result in an end to questioning. His request for an attorney did not result in an end to the questioning. If the officers had listened to him more carefully, they would have understood he was requesting an attorney and refusing, at times, to answer questions.

The officers used many standard interrogation techniques including the common practices of lying to the defendant about the facts, pretending to know more than they did, ... using the good cop/bad cop alternating questioning manipulating the defendant's technique, reputation, appealing to his conscience, trying to get him to answer questions with a yes or no, and denying him the chance to make explanations. They confronted defendant with the evidence against him referring to the victim's side of the story and the fictitious medical report of her condition. Their impatience with the defendant prevented his making complete statements and the defendant showed his frustration with this. The cumulative effect of these techniques was to overbear defendant's will and render his statements involuntary.

Id. When the doctor attempted to ask the officers questions, they repeatedly interrupted him. *Id.*

The same is true in Ms. Park's case. Like the Japanese doctor, she was unfamiliar with the legal system and criminal investigations. While the doctor was led to believe the questioning related to an employment matter, Ms. Park was led to believe she needed to answer

questions to help save her husband. Like the doctor, Ms. Park asked for clarification about her "rights" and was interrupted by the officers, who then avoided answering her questions or giving any further explanation. Ms. Park's body language showed she did not want to talk and yet the officers persisted. At multiple points throughout the interview, she had her head down on the desk and did not respond to the detectives' questions.

Det. Hatcher physically pulled Ms. Park off of the floor—where she had collapsed, sobbing— and deposited her in her chair so that the detectives could continue to pepper her with questions. (Hatcher Body Camera 4 App. 114 at 1:38:45–1:40:25). She wept uncontrollably for twenty-five minutes. (App. 109 at 1.26.04 to end; Hatcher Body Camera 3, App. 71 00:00 to 1:00). Throughout that entire period, the detectives demanded that she calm down and tell them what happened. In order to get her to resume answering questions, the detectives repeatedly told her that they were there to help her. Ms. Park finally began to speak to them again after remarking, "Not gonna let me go, are you?" (Hatcher Body Camera 3, App. 120 4:50).

Taken as a whole, the State cannot carry its burden to prove Ms. Park understood her rights and made an uncoerced choice to waive those rights. *See Moran v. Burbine*, 106 S. Ct. 1135, 1141 (1986) ("Only if the 'totality of the circumstances surrounding the interrogation' reveal both an uncoerced choice and the requisite level of comprehension may a court properly conclude that the *Miranda* rights have been waived."). Under the circumstances, any supposed waiver of her *Miranda* rights was not made knowingly, intelligently, or voluntarily. Her statements therefore must be suppressed.

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